**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Williamsburg County
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

RONALD HAKEEM MACK,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002441

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 836
Sumter, South Carolina 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 13 2018

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Ronald Hakeem Mack, was sentenced to fifty years for murder and a concurrent thirty years for first-degree burglary following a guilty plea on August 24, 2010.¹ (R.p.1; p.32, lines 7-14). Respondent admitted he and three co-defendants drove to a teenager's home and shot and killed him over a drug debt owed to the gang to which they belonged. (R.p.7, lines 22-25; p.8, lines 1-3; p.8, line 8-p.12, line 20; p.16, line 15-p.17, line 13). Respondent was seventeen-years-old at the time.² (R.p.19, lines 4-5). Respondent pled guilty before the Honorable Clifton Newman and was represented by LeGrand Carraway. (R.p.1). Respondent did not appeal his guilty plea or sentences:

On August 5, 2011, respondent filed for post-conviction relief. (2011-CP-45-383). After an evidentiary hearing, the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. denied and dismissed with prejudice the application. Respondent filed a petition for writ of certiorari which presented, among other issues, the claim his case should be remanded for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). The Supreme Court of South Carolina denied certiorari review on March 25, 2016. (Appellate Case No. 2014-001518).

On April 20, 2015, respondent filed a motion for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken*. (R.pp.39-41). The State submitted a response to the motion on April 28, 2015, and respondent replied on May 15, 2015. (R.pp.61-71). The Supreme Court vested the Honorable Michael G. Nettles with exclusive jurisdiction over the case on August 11, 2016. (R.p.82).

The State moved to dismiss the motion for resentencing on October 5, 2016, arguing

¹ As part of the negotiations, the State dropped criminal conspiracy and weapons charges. (R.p.3, lines 15-19).

² Respondent was four months away from his eighteenth birthday. (R.pp.34-36).

respondent was not entitled to relief because he was not sentenced to life without parole, but received a term of fifty years and the plea judge considered all relevant information prior to sentencing. (R.pp.85-87). Respondent opposed the motion, asserting the term-of-years sentence he received was the functional equivalent of a life sentence such that he was part of the class entitled to resentencing. (R.pp.88-107).

On February 17, 2017, a hearing was held on appellant's motion before Judge Nettles. (R.p.117). Respondent was represented by Laura R. Baer, and the State was represented by Ernest A. Finney, III. (R.p.117). By order dated June 14, 2017, Judge Nettles denied the State's motion to dismiss, finding *Aiken* applied to *de facto* life sentences, fifty years was such a sentence, and the original sentencing hearing was insufficient. (R.pp.392-400). Accordingly, the judge found respondent was entitled to a resentencing hearing pursuant to *Aiken*. (R.p.401).

The State filed a motion to reconsider, and respondent opposed the motion. (R.pp.402-05). The State filed a lengthy memorandum waiving a reconsideration hearing and in support of its motion. (R.pp.406-34). Judge Nettles denied the motion for reconsideration by order dated November 15, 2017. (R.p.435).

The State served a notice of appeal on November 22, 2017. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as interlocutory on December 19, 2017, which the State opposed. This Court denied the motion to dismiss by order dated February 1, 2018.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Did the circuit court err in finding respondent's term-of-years sentence for murder was the functional equivalent of a life sentence which entitled him to resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, where our Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court limited their holdings to juveniles actually sentenced to life without parole and where the evidence the court relied on to support its ruling was irrelevant?

Respondent is not entitled to resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), as he received a term-of-years sentence and will be released when he finishes his fifty-year sentence for murder. The circuit court erred in finding respondent's sentence was a *de facto* life sentence because the court deviated from existing precedent to create a cognizable claim under *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and its progeny. By their plain language *Miller* and *Aiken* apply only to juvenile homicide offenders sentenced to an actual sentence of life without parole and respondent is not part of that class.

Neither our Supreme Court nor the United States Supreme Court have extended the *Miller* rule to apply to any other type of sentence, or so broadly construed it to include the argument made by respondent that his sentence for murder is the functional equivalent of life without parole. The Supreme Court has never held a lengthy sentence for a juvenile offender who killed someone is the functional equivalent of life without parole. The sentencing scheme in *Miller* was unconstitutional because it denied juveniles convicted of murder all possibility of release, leaving them no opportunity or incentive for rehabilitation. But no one is guaranteed freedom. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479 (citing *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010)) (forbidding a sentencing scheme that mandates life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders, while acknowledging a state is not required to guarantee eventual freedom but must provide some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and

rehabilitation). By its express words, the Supreme Court has stated juveniles convicted of any offense are not guaranteed freedom under the Eighth Amendment or even freedom while they are still young. *See Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75 (explaining "[t]he Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life"); *see also Miller*, 567 U.S. at 480 (noting "we do not foreclose a sentencer's ability to make that judgment in homicide cases [to sentence a juvenile to life without parole], we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison"); *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578 ("Without question, the judge may still determine that life without parole is the appropriate sentence in some of these cases in light of other aggravating circumstances."). Moreover, the evidence presented in the form of life expectancy statistics and relied on by the circuit court to make its determination is irrelevant and deeply flawed. As will be discussed below, the information presented lacks risk factors specific to respondent and is too broad.

In addition, respondent's sentence, while lengthy, would not have triggered any requirement for the sentencing judge to make such findings of "irreparable corruption" or "permanent incorrigibility" because the judge did not give respondent a life without parole sentence. Regardless, the sentencing judge properly considered the cold-blooded nature of the murder and respondent's involvement, circumstances of his youth, and all the other relevant *Miller* factors before exercising his discretion to sentence respondent. Accordingly, respondent's sentence of fifty years for murder is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment, and the circuit court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss respondent's motion for a resentencing hearing, and in finding respondent was entitled to resentencing

pursuant to *Aiken*.

Guilty Plea Hearing

Respondent pled guilty to murder and first-degree burglary on August 24, 2010 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. (R.p.1; pp.7-12; p.16, line 15-p.17, line 13; pp.34-36). Prior to accepting the plea, Judge Newman explained the rights respondent was giving up by pleading guilty, asked respondent repeatedly if he understood those rights, and discussed the potential sentences respondent faced, which included the possibility of two life sentences. (R.p.3, line 23-p.8, line 16). Respondent stated repeatedly he understood the proceeding and admitted he committed the crimes of murder and burglary. (R.p.7, lines 22-25; p.8, lines 1-3; p.8, lines 8-16).

The State told the plea judge briefly the facts of the case. On April 5, 2009, respondent was four months away from turning eighteen, when he and his co-defendants broke into the home of seventeen-year-old Kenyon Dorsey. (R.p.8, lines 18-23; pp.34-36). The victim's mother was also inside, heard what she thought were firecrackers, saw blood on the wall, and realized her son had been shot. (R.p.8, line 23-p.9, line 13). Police determined someone shot the victim four times—three times with a nine millimeter handgun and once with a shotgun. (R.p.9, lines 15-17; p.11, lines 11-14).

During the investigation, police learned respondent and Kenyon Dorsey used to be friends, but Antonio McClary (McClary) admitted respondent was mad at the victim. (R.p.9, line 18-p.10, line 7). Respondent called his mother, Tawanda Allen (Allen), and her boyfriend, Kelvin Bowen (Bowen) in Maryland and asked them to drive down, bring guns, and help him commit a murder. (R.p.10, lines 7-14). Allen and Bowen picked up respondent and McClary, drove them to the victim's house, and they broke in. (R.p.10, line 14-p.11, line 9). Respondent

walked behind the recliner where the victim was sleeping and shot him three times with the handgun. (R.p.11, lines 9-11). Bowen saw the victim move, stated, "He's not dead, we need to finish him off," and shot the victim again with the shotgun. (R.p.11, lines 12-14). The co-defendants got in their car and drove away. (R.p.11, line 14-p.12, line 7). All four were later arrested—respondent, Allen, and Bowen were found Maryland. (R.p.12, lines 7-12). A search of their home revealed the shotgun used in the murder and ammunition from a nine millimeter gun.³ (R.p.12, lines 12-20). Given the "callous" nature of the crime, the solicitor stated she believed a life sentence would be appropriate. (R.p.14, line 25-p.15, line 2).

Following the State's recitation, Judge Newman asked respondent if that was true and respondent replied, "Yes, sir," but stated his mother and Bowen had nothing to do with the crime.⁴ (R.p.12, line 21-p.13, line 3). Judge Newman accepted the plea as voluntarily and knowingly entered. (R.p.13, lines 6-7).

Prior to sentencing, the victim's mother spoke briefly of losing her son, and told Judge Newman she hoped respondent spent the rest of his life in prison. (R.p.13, lines 13-19). Respondent's defense counsel spoke at length on his behalf, in an effort to give the judge a better idea of respondent's social history and personality. Counsel described respondent as a soft spoken, smart, and nice young man who lived in South Carolina until the seventh grade when he moved to Maryland with his mother and stepfather, who eventually divorced. (R.p.15, line 9-

³ Respondent, Allen, and McClary co-defendant gave statements to police. (R.p.10, lines 3-7; p.14, line 23-p.15, line 1).

⁴ A jury convicted Allen on September 1, 2010, and Judge Newman sentenced her to concurrent terms of forty-five years for murder, thirty years for first-degree burglary, and five years for criminal conspiracy. A jury convicted Bowen on February 4, 2011, and Judge Newman sentenced him to consecutive terms of ninety-nine years for murder, thirty years for first-degree burglary, five years for criminal conspiracy, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. McClary, pled guilty on October 14, 2010, to a negotiated sentence of twelve years' imprisonment for second-degree violent burglary. (R.p.421, n.8).

p.16, line 14). Counsel explained respondent later moved back to South Carolina. (R.p.20, lines 12-15). Respondent and the victim were involved in the Bloods gang, and the two helped distribute drugs, the victim owed the gang \$78,000, and members of the gang told respondent it was his responsibility to "take care of this problem."⁵ (R.p.16, line 15-p.18, line 6; p.19, lines 2-4).

Defense counsel told the sentencing judge respondent was "totally immersed" in the gang which brainwashed him and influenced him to the extent that respondent wanted to have the lifestyle of plenty of money from selling drugs and being an upper level member of the gang. (R.p.19, lines 21-p.20, line 12; p.21, line 24). Counsel revealed the gang became like another family to respondent. (R.p.20, line 20-p.21, line 17). Counsel explained further respondent would have done anything for the gang and if "the Bloods told him to put a gun in his mouth he would have done it" and "would have been happy to do it," but respondent was out of that mindset because he had spent time away from the gang and now understood the dangers of that life. (R.p.21, line 18-p.22, line 20). Counsel stated he did not believe justice would be served by giving respondent a harsh sentence, and asked the sentencing judge to give respondent the minimum thirty years given his mother's and the gang's involvement and influence over him. (R.p.22, line 20-p.23, line 23).

Respondent expressed remorse for the crime, asked for mercy and said he knew what he had done was wrong, but that he did it out of fear, was young at the time, and did it to prove his loyalty to the gang. (R.p.24, lines 1-7).

Defense counsel reemphasized the influence respondent's mother had over him and reiterated her role in the crime, and spoke of the possibility of respondent's rehabilitation, telling

⁵ Bowen was allegedly a member of the same gang. (R.p.28, lines 18-19).

the sentencing judge:

This was his mother who took him to that house. She drove him there. [. . .] These aren't three kids going to do this to where this is his mother taking him there, directing him basically to do this. That's what makes this completely different than anything else. He's not twenty-five. He was seventeen-years-old at the time, and that's what makes a difference here, Your Honor. That's what I guess what – you're not gonna find another case. You can go the whole world over and you're not gonna find a case where a mother is encouraging a son to commit a murder like this. [. . .] I believe the ends of justice would be served with a minimum thirty-year sentence for him to give this man another chance. You can imagine how much he's going to change, how much he's already changed, and away from mom and this gang, the person he will be in just a few years or whatever. He's gonna be in jail until for thirty years or whatever, Your Honor, but I would ask that who among us has been cursed enough to have a mother to take us to a murder site.

(R.p.25, line 20-p.26, line 21). Respondent admitted his mother drove him to the victim's home, and acknowledged she and her boyfriend, Bowen, "had a big influence on me doing a lot of things that I did" and his mother never tried to stop him from doing bad things. (R.p.26, line 22-p.28, line 21).

The sentencing judge stated; "the purpose of a sentence is to represent what society determines to be justice for a crime and to – not to send a message to the community, but to do what most law abiding citizens would expect the Court to do." (R.p.30, lines 16-20). The judge asked respondent:

THE COURT: It's not about the future years of Mr. Mack. How about the lack of future years of [the victim]. He's the victim, the victim, the victim's family, the victim's loved ones. Mr. Mack is almost certainly a lost cause at this point based on all of the choices that he made. He's a lost cause as far as society is concerned. His future is not within society. His future, your future, is out of society. You've given up your freedom. You've given up the right to walk among free people. Why did you decide to give that up?

[RESPONDENT]: I don't know any better, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sir?

[RESPONDENT]: I didn't know no better.

THE COURT: You didn't know no better? Unfortunately you'll never know any better because you – that's a – just as you snuffed out his life you snuffed out your future just the same. All of the great things that [defense counsel] said about you and all he thinks about you, I mean, I'm not questioning at all whether those things are true. But if you are to take advantage of those things it won't be – it will not be out in free society where you've given up your freedom and your right to anyone to trust you to walk the streets. And you'll have to do those good deeds behind bars. That's just a fact of the matter.

(R.p.31, line 6-p.32, line 6). Though life was a possibility, Judge Newman ultimately sentenced respondent to fifty years for murder and a concurrent thirty years for first-degree burglary.⁶

(R.p.32, lines 7-14).

Motion for Resentencing and Subsequent Responses

On April 20, 2015, respondent moved for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), and submitted a motion through counsel. (R.pp.39-41).

Respondent asserted his fifty years sentence was a *de facto* life sentence and the judge's comments during sentencing indicated his intent that the sentence be such an equivalent.

(R.pp.48-58). Further, respondent argued the judge did not fully consider the hallmark features of youth as required, but instead based respondent's sentence "purely on retribution and incapacitation." (R.pp.58-60).

⁶ Prior to accepting the plea, Judge Newman explained to respondent murder and first-degree burglary each carried the possibility of a life sentence and respondent indicated he understood. (R.pp.3-4). Respondent knew the sentencing consequences—i.e. that he faced the possibility of two life sentences. Further, plea counsel and respondent both understood the only agreement entered into was to drop criminal conspiracy and weapons charges; there were no negotiations regarding sentencing. (R.p.3; p.5).

On October 5, 2016, the State moved to dismiss the motion for resentencing arguing respondent was not entitled to relief because he was not sentenced to life without parole, but received a term of fifty years. (R.pp.85-86). The State also asserted the plea judge considered all relevant information prior to sentencing. (R.p.86). Finally, the State maintained, while respondent's sentence was lengthy and he may spend a significant portion of his life in prison, "he has been given every benefit that the law requires since he will not have to spend the balance of his life in prison." (R.p.86).

Respondent filed a lengthy response in opposition, emphasizing cases from other jurisdictions which found *Miller* applied to *de facto* life sentences and reiterated the argument that respondent received such a sentence. (R.pp.93-104).

Hearing on Aiken Motion

A hearing on appellant's motion to dismiss was held on February 17, 2017, before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. (R.p.117). The State argued respondent was not entitled to resentencing because he did not receive a life without parole sentence, but received a term-of-years sentence and *Miller* and its progeny, such as *Aiken*, were "pretty clear case[s] for our courts to have to interpret." (R.p.121, line 24-p.122, line 5). The State maintained the sentencing implications noted in *Aiken* were not at issue in respondent's case because he had the opportunity to obtain release. (R.p.122, lines 5-15). The State asserted the plea judge used his discretion to sentence respondent to a range between thirty years and life where respondent faced the possibility of two life sentences—one for murder and one for first-degree burglary. (R.p.122, lines 16-19). The State maintained defense counsel detailed respondent's life and the plea judge took that into consideration when determining respondent's sentence. (R.p.122, line 19-p.123, line 7). The State reiterated its position respondent was not part of the class entitled to relief

under *Aiken* because he would be released when his term-of-years sentence ended, even acknowledging the possibility that time spent in prison could lower a person's life expectancy. (R.p.124, lines 13-16; p.125, line 18-p.126, line 1; p.192, line 11-p.193, line 9; p.202, line 18-p.203, line 15; p.205, line 16-p.208, line 3).

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