STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Williamsburg County

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

v.

RONALD HAKEEM MACK,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002441  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
OCT 29 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

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

In State v. Ali, 895 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Minn. 2017), *cert. denied* 138 S. Ct. 640 (2018), the Court upheld the defendant's 90-year aggregate sentence for three homicides he committed

---

<sup>10</sup> Between August 2007 and August 2008, Kasic committed a series of arsons on the east side of Tucson. State v. Kasic, 265 P.3d 410, 411 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011). Most of the fires involved occupied residences where the victims slept inside, but two involved palm trees. Id. at 411-12. Kasic was a juvenile when he committed four of the arsons. Id. at 413. He was ultimately convicted of thirty-two felonies. Id. at 415.

as part of the same incident. The Court ruled that absent further guidance from the Court, it would not apply the Miller/Montgomery rule to Ali and others similarly situated. 895 N.W.2d at 246. The dissenter in Ali, however, wrote: “[B]ecause the force and logic behind the principle that children are ‘constitutionally different from adults in their level of culpability’ undoubtedly encompass cases in which a juvenile defendant commits multiple offenses during a single criminal episode, as happened here, I respectfully dissent.” Id. at 248 (Chutich, J., dissenting). Thus, it is the logic of the dissent in Ali that most mirrors the reasoning in Aiken. Aiken, 410 S.C. at 542–43, 765 S.E.2d at 576 (“However, we must give effect to the proportionality rationale integral to Miller’s holding—youth has constitutional significance. As such, it must be afforded adequate weight in sentencing.”).

In summary, the circuit court in Mack’s case was tasked with interpreting our Supreme Court’s decision in Aiken, which intentionally utilized open-ended language like “similarly situated” and “any individual affected.” Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78. The Aiken Court admittedly went beyond the explicit holding of Miller to give effect to the underlying rationale that implicitly required application of its principles to discretionary sentencing schemes. Id. at 542-43, 765 S.E.2d at 576; Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (“Miller, then, did more than require a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender’s youth before imposing life without parole; it established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapse in light of ‘the distinctive attributes of youth.’”). With that in mind, the circuit court properly found that the cases from other jurisdictions applying Miller to de facto LWOP sentences were persuasive. The aspect of an LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender whose crime reflects “unfortunate yet transient immaturity” is not the denomination of the sentence as “life without parole.” Rather, the Miller Court referenced how the differences in

children’s culpability and capability to change “counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” and removing all hope. 567 U.S. at 480. The Aiken Court similarly found that “the Miller Court unequivocally held that youth has a constitutional dimension when determining the appropriateness of a lifetime of incarceration with no possibility of parole....” Aiken, 410 S.C. at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576. Thus, the circuit court’s interpretation of Aiken was not an expansion, but rather an effectuation of our Supreme Court’s intent.

**B. Respondent’s fifty-year sentence constitutes a de facto life sentence such that he is entitled to resentencing.**

The circuit court’s determination that Mack’s 50-year sentences constitutes a de facto LWOP did not rest on any one thing. Rather, the circuit court properly cited the remarks at sentencing that reflected Judge Newman’s intention that Mack be imprisoned for life, Dolan’s SCDC specific life expectancy study, other life expectancy sources, and cases from other jurisdictions holding similar term of years constituted de facto LWOP. To the extent Appellant argues that our state’s geriatric release provision negates Mack’s claim, such an argument is unpreserved and unpersuasive.

***Judge Newman’s Intention***

The United States Sentencing Commission recognizes and defines a de facto life sentence as “one where the length of the sentence imposed is so long that the sentence is, for all practical purposes, a life sentence and likely was intended to be such by the judge who imposed it.” Patti B. Saris, et al., U.S. Sent. Comm’n, Life Sentences in the federal system (Feb. 2015), [http://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-publications/research-projects-and-surveys/miscellaneous/20150226\\_Life\\_Sentences.pdf](http://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-publications/research-projects-and-surveys/miscellaneous/20150226_Life_Sentences.pdf); see also State v. Moore, 76 N.E.3d 1127,

1138, 1151 (Ohio 2016) (finding that the trial court “undoubtedly” aimed to sentence Moore to life in prison, as reflected in judge’s comments: “I want to make sure you never get out of the penitentiary, and I’m going to make sure that you never get out of the penitentiary” and “[I]t is the intention of this court that you should never be released from the penitentiary.”).

Here, when imposing Mack’s 50-year sentence, Judge Newman said: “He’s a lost cause as far as society is concerned. His future is not within society. His future, your future, is out of society. You’ve given up your freedom. You’ve given up the right to walk among free people.” R. 31, ll. 11-14. He further told Mack: “[J]ust as you snuffed out his life you snuffed out your future just the same.” R. 31, ll. 21-23. The Judge said that Mack would not be “out in a free society,” had “given up [his] freedom” and right to “walk the streets.” R. 32, ll. 1-4. Thus, any good deeds would have to be done “behind bars.” R. 32, ll. 4-6. In admonishing Mack that his 50-year sentence was “more than you can count,” it is apparent that Judge Newman utilized the lengthy term of years sentence for shock value and not because of any reasoned determination that Mack was not the rare offender for whom an LWOP sentence was proper. R. 32, ll. 7-12. Judge Newman’s comments are prima facie evidence that Mack’s 50-year sentence is a de facto LWOP sentence.

### *Life Expectancy Data*

The life expectancy data presented here was not intended to predict Mack’s specific date of death, but rather to educate the court on the reduced life expectancy associated with incarceration.<sup>11</sup> Further, Respondent needed to rebut the State’s allegation that Mack would have ten years left to live beyond his age of release. See R. 125, ll. 1-22.

---

<sup>11</sup> Appellant asks this court to take judicial notice of Mack’s inmate detail report and infer Mack’s drug use from its contents. Brief of Appellant, p. 20. Rule 201(b)(2), SCRE, provides that “[a] judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally

Ms. Dolan's study of SCDC male inmates revealed that they died an average of 20 years earlier than predicted by the U.S. population life tables. R. 156, l. 4 – 157, l. 5; R. 160, ll. 6-11. The use of inmates who died both during and following release was necessary to produce an accurate life table and to account for what years of life can be expected after any eventual release. Ms. Dolan's supplemental affidavit further revealed that inmates serving life sentences who entered SCDC between the ages of 16 and 19 died while incarcerated an average of **31.8 years earlier** than predicted by the U.S. population life tables. R. 315. The ACLU of Michigan study similarly revealed "a strong correlation between the number of years spent in prison and life expectancy resulting in further diminished life expectancy for those serving a natural life sentence." R. 283-284. The observed average age at death for Michigan youth sentenced to natural life was 50.6 years. R. 283-284.

Courts applying Graham and Miller to de facto life sentences have given varying levels of attention to life expectancy data. The Third Circuit requires that sentencing courts make a factual determination as to the offender's individual life expectancy, but also requires the courts

---

known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." SCDC's own website contains the following disclaimer related to the "inmate search" feature:

SCDC offers the Internet "inmate search" feature and the toll free inmate information line 1-866-SCSAVIN (1-866-727-2846) as a public service to interested citizens. While SCDC strives to ensure accuracy of this information, it makes no guarantees as to the reliability of the data. Under no circumstances will SCDC be liable for any damages, direct or indirect, with regard to any and all information obtained through the use of this service. Please report data errors or discrepancies via E-mail to [corrections.info@doc.state.sc.us](mailto:corrections.info@doc.state.sc.us).

SCDC – Inmate Search, <http://www.doc.sc.gov/InmateSearchDisclaimer.html>. If SCDC itself cannot guarantee the reliability of the information on its site, this can hardly be the type of source "whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned" in order to support the taking of judicial notice. To the extent that this Court does consider Mack's disciplinary history, it must be cognizant that "[t]he purpose of a prison disciplinary proceeding is to maintain institutional order rather than to prosecute criminal conduct." State v. Blick, 325 S.C. 636, 642, 481 S.E.2d 452, 455 (Ct.App. 1997). Because prison disciplinary proceedings are not part of a criminal prosecution, "the full panoply of rights due a defendant in such proceedings does not apply." Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S.539, 556 (1974).

to consider the age of retirement as a sentencing factor. United States v. Grant, 887 F.3d 131, 149-53 (3rd Cir. 2018). The Wyoming Supreme Court declined to make any projections as to the appellant's individual life expectancy but noted the United States Sentencing Commission's recognition of 470 months (39.17 years) as equal to a life sentence. Bear Cloud v. State, 334 P.3d 132 (Wyo. 2014); see R. 56.

On the other hand, the Iowa Supreme Court is often quoted for writing: “[W]hile some courts have concluded that whether potential release might occur within a defendant's life expectancy is a key factual issue, we do not believe the determination of whether the principles of Miller or Graham apply in a given case should turn on the niceties of epidemiology, genetic analysis, or actuarial sciences in determining precise mortality dates.” State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71–72 (Iowa 2013) (internal citations omitted). Notably, the Iowa Court nonetheless remanded for resentencing where Null's aggregate sentences totaled 52.5 years, finding:

[W]e believe that while a minimum of 52.5 years imprisonment is not technically a life-without-parole sentence, such a lengthy sentence imposed on a juvenile is sufficient to trigger Miller-type protections. Even if lesser sentences than life without parole might be less problematic, we do not regard the juvenile's potential future release in his or her late sixties after a half century of incarceration sufficient to escape the rationales of Graham or Miller. The prospect of geriatric release, if one is to be afforded the opportunity for release at all, does not provide a “meaningful opportunity” to demonstrate the “maturity and rehabilitation” required to obtain release and reenter society as required by Graham.

Id. at 71. Other courts have noted equal protection concerns because life expectancy varies based on immutable characteristics like gender and race. See, e.g., People v. Contreras, 411 P.3d 446, 449-51 (Cal. 2018) (writing that “[a]lthough persons of different races and genders are not similarly situated in terms of life expectancy, it seems doubtful that considering such differences in juvenile sentencing would pass constitutional muster” and finding that the proper starting

point in considering the application to de facto life sentences “is not a life expectancy table but the reasoning of the high court in Graham”).

The Connecticut Supreme Court rejected “the notion that, in order for a sentence to be deemed ‘life imprisonment,’ it must continue until the literal end of one’s life.” Casiano v. Comm’r, 115 A.3d 1031, 1045 (Conn. 2015). The court observed that general life expectancy statistics do “not account for any reduction in life expectancy due to the impact of spending the vast majority of one’s life in prison” and cited several sources acknowledging the correlation between incarceration and reduced life expectancy. Id. at 1046. In the event a juvenile offender lives to be released, the Court noted his diminished prospects and increased risk for age-related diseases and disorders. Id. The Court wrote: “The United States Supreme Court viewed the concept of ‘life’ in Miller and Graham more broadly than biological survival; it implicitly endorsed the notion that an individual is effectively incarcerated for ‘life’ if he will have no opportunity to truly reenter society or have any meaningful life outside of prison.” Id. at 1047. Thus, the Court found: “In light of the foregoing statistics and their practical effect, a fifty year term and its grim prospects for any future outside of prison effectively provide a juvenile offender with “no chance for fulfillment outside prison walls, no chance for reconciliation with society, no hope.” Id.

Regardless of the weight given to life expectancy data, many other jurisdictions have found Graham and Miller applicable to term of years sentences between fifty and sixty years. See Casiano v. Commissioner, 115 A.3d 1031 (Conn. 2015) (finding 50-year sentence constituted de facto LWOP); Tarrand v. State, 199 So.3d 507 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2016) (same for 51-year sentence); State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013) (same for 52.5 year sentence); State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88 (Iowa 2013) (same for 55-year sentence with parole

eligibility after service of 35 years); State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2013) (same for sentence of life sentence with parole eligibility after 60 years); Carter v. State, 2018 WL 4140672 (Md. Aug. 29, 2018) (same for sentence with parole eligibility after 50 years); State ex rel. Carr v. Wallace, 527 S.W.3d 55 (Mo. 2017) (same for sentence of life with parole eligibility after 50 years); State v. Zuber, 152 A.3d 197 (N.J. 2017), *cert. denied*, 138 S. Ct. 152 (2017) (same for sentence of 55 years); State v. Ronquillo, 361 P.3d 779 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015) (same for sentence of 51.75 years); Bear Cloud v. State, 334 P.3d 132, 142 (Wyo. 2014) (same for sentence with parole eligibility after 45 years); Sam v. State, 401 P.3d 834 (Wyo. 2017), *cert. denied* 138 S. Ct. 1988 (2018) (same for sentence with parole eligibility after 52 years). Thus, Judge Nettles' finding that Mack's 50-year sentence constitutes a de facto life sentence was not an abuse of discretion.

#### ***Geriatric Release Argument Unpreserved and Unpersuasive***

In a footnote, Appellant discusses the United States Supreme Court's decision in Virginia v. LeBlanc, 137 S. Ct. 1726 (2017). See Brief of Appellant, p. 21 n.10. The LeBlanc Court reversed the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, finding that the Virginia Supreme Court did not unreasonably apply the Graham rule in holding that Virginia's geriatric release program satisfied Graham's requirement of parole for juvenile offenders. 137 S. Ct. at 1727-28. The LeBlanc Court recognized that reversal was required under the narrow standard required for relief under the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA). Id. at 1729. The Court specifically wrote that its ruling "expresses no view on the merits of the underlying Eighth Amendment claim" and did not "suggest or imply that the underlying issue, if presented on direct review, would be insubstantial." Id.

Appellant suggested that “South Carolina utilizes a similar program” to Virginia and argued that “[a]t the very least, the presence of these programs tends to undercut the lesser estimate of life expectancy put forth below.” Brief of Appellant, p. 21 n.10. This argument is not preserved, as it was not raised below. See State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an argument advanced on appeal but not raised and ruled on below is not preserved); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989) (issue not preserved for appeal where one ground is raised below and another ground is raised on appeal). Moreover, our state statute is not “similar” to that of Virginia. The Virginia statute provides:

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